# COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS PLAN FOR FIRE CHIEF, DEPUTY FIRE CHIEFS, and BUSINESS MANAGER

Effective April 12, 2023 Restated as of November 19, 2024

# COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS PLAN FOR THE FIRE CHIEF, DEPUTY FIRE CHIEFS, AND BUSINESS MANAGER Rev. November 19, 2024

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Contents

ARTICLE I WAGES & BENEFITS	4
Section 1 - Wages	4
Section 2 - Retirement	4
Section 3 - Probationary Period for Business Manager	5
Section 4 - Special Pay and Allowance	5
Uniform Allowance	5
Educational Incentive Pay	6
Hazardous Materials Chief Officer Educational Incentive Pay	7
Deployment Pay for Deputy Chiefs	8
Management Incentive Pay (MIP)	8
Cell Phone	8
Section 5 - Department Provided Vehicles and Vehicle Allowances	8
Section 6 - Leave Accruals	8
Section 7 - Flexible Benefits Plan	9
Section 8 – Dental/Vision Insurance	10
Dental Insurance	10
Vision Insurance	10
Section 9 - Long Term Disability	10
Section 10 - Life Insurance	11
Section 11 - Deferred Compensation Plan	11
Section 12 – Retiree Health Savings (RHS) Account	11
Separation Pay	11
Section 13 - Pay for Temporary Assignment	12
Section 14 – Health and Wellness (Business Manager)	12
ARTICLE II HOLIDAYS	12
Section 1 - Official Department Holidays	12
ARTICLE III VACATION AND OTHER LEAVES	13
Section 1 - Vacation Leave	13
Vacation Accumulation	14
Vacation Accumulation	14
Vacation Sell Back	15
Section 2 – Executive Leave and Sell Back	15

Executive Leave Accumulation	
Executive Leave Sell Back	15
Section 3 – Sick Leave and Bereavement Leave	
Section 4 – Recognition Leave	17
Performance Component	17
Section 5 - Discipline	17
Section 6 - Grievances	17

# COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS PLAN FOR THE FIRE CHIEF, DEPUTY FIRE CHIEFS, AND BUSINESS MANAGER

The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department (hereinafter called "Department") provides the following wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment to its Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chiefs and Business Manager as described in this Compensation and Benefits Plan (hereinafter called the "Plan").

All positions are at-will employees as defined in the Department Personnel Rules & Regulations Section 6.04.

The Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs are considered safety positions and the Business Manager position is a non-safety position.

# ARTICLE I WAGES & BENEFITS

# Section 1 - Wages

A three-step salary range has been established for the Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief, and a 5-step salary range has been established for the Business Manager classification. The current salary ranges are based on a forty-hour work week and are listed on the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Merit Salary Schedule. Initial Fire Chief salary step is determined by the Fire Board. The Fire Chief determines initial salary step for the Deputy Fire Chiefs and Business Manager.

Salary increases for all positions covered in this plan will be at the discretion of the Fire Board.

#### Section 2 - Retirement

Retirement benefits shall be provided under applicable legislation pertaining to the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS).

The Department currently provides the following retirement benefits:

Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

- 2.7% @ 57 with highest average annual pensionable compensation earned during 36 consecutive months of service for all local safety members hired on or after January 13, 2019 and all "new" members hired on or after January 1, 2013.
- Classic employees, as defined by Section 7522.05 of the Government Code, are responsible to pay the entire employee share (9.0%)

Effective July 12, 2020, classic members and new members hired on or after January 1, 2013 shall pay 50% of the total normal cost rate, with a cap of 14% for Classic members, in accordance with Government Code 7522.30. The contributions toward employer rate will be pre-tax under 414(h)2.

The contributions toward employer rate shall not be credited to the employee account at PERS and shall not be reimbursed to the contributor by the Department at any time for any reason. The contributions toward employer rate will be pre-tax under 414(h)2. In the

event the Internal Revenue Service determines these contributions cannot be done pretax, the Department will move forward with a PERS contract amendment under Government Code Section 20516(a) as soon as administratively feasible. If the agreement to cost share under Government Code 20516(f) reduces or limits an employee's benefit base or reportable compensation to PERS during the term of this MOU, the Department agrees to reopen on this item upon the Unit's request.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department contracted with the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) to provide employees with a retirement formula that conforms to the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA). The retirement formula for new employees is 2% @ 62 retirement tier with pension calculated based on the average highest annual compensation over a consecutive 36-month period. This retirement tier applies to a) all local miscellaneous members hired after January 13, 2019, and b) new members. A new member is (a) someone who has never been in PERS or a reciprocal retirement system or (b) someone previously in PERS or a reciprocal retirement system, but who has a gap of at least six (6) months since being covered by any of those pension systems. PERS refers to employees hired before January 1, 2013 as classic members.

Miscellaneous Employees Hire Date	Retirement Benefit Formula
"Classic Member" as defined by Section 7522.05 of the	2.0% @ 55
Government Code hired before 1/13/2019	
All members hired by Department after 1/13/19 or "New	2.0% @ 62
Members" hired on or after 1/1/2013	

Employee contributions to PERS shall be administered in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 414(h)(2).

The Department has contracted with PERS to provide the 4th Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits.

The Department has contracted with PERS to provide the Military Service Credit.

The Department has contracted with PERS for sick leave conversion to service credit upon retirement.

#### Section 3 - Probationary Period for Business Manager

The initial probationary period for new employees shall be for a period of not less than twelve (12) months of actual service. Further provisions regarding probationary periods are found in the Department Personnel Rules and Regulations (hereinafter called "Department Personnel Rules").

#### Section 4 - Special Pay and Allowances

#### Uniform Allowance

#### Initial Uniform Allowance

The Department shall provide two (2) standard uniforms in accordance with the department's uniform policy upon initial hire

#### Uniform Allowance

Fire Chief and Deputy Chiefs shall receive a uniform allowance of thirty-eight dollars and forty-six cents (\$38.46) per pay period.

The Department has an interest in requiring all safety employees to have a Class A uniform. The Department will provide all necessary adjustments and components of the Class A uniform for the Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs.

#### Standard Uniform

All Safety personnel will be required to wear a standard uniform. The Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief uniform will be in accordance with the Department SOPs and the Battalion Chiefs MOU.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department, upon request, will provide an employee with an initial set of logo wear consisting of one polo shirt, one t-shirt, one jacket and one hat. The Department will consider requests for replacements as needed.

#### Educational Incentive Pay

As set forth below, a qualifying employee shall be entitled to educational incentive pay for completing and becoming certified in qualifying educational courses and topics.

Educational Incentive pay is paid on a biweekly basis, beginning the first full pay period of the month following the date of submittal or certification and acceptance by the Department.

#### Eligibility

The maximum amount of educational incentive payment to be provided shall be two hundred sixty dollars (\$260) per month, paid biweekly (Deputy Chiefs) and two hundred dollars (\$200) per month, paid biweekly (Business Manager).

As a pre-requisite for an employee to receive Educational Incentive Pay, the Department's Human Resources Staff must first evaluate and approve the courses, certifications, degrees, and other educational units that form the basis for the Educational Incentive Pay. The courses, certifications, degrees, and other educational units must be related to the employee's position or duties.

#### Qualifications

Minimum qualifications for the one hundred fifty dollars (\$150) per month rate shall be any of the following:

• Associate of Arts Degree

or

Officer Certification

or

• Sixty college level units

Minimum qualifications for the two hundred sixty dollars (\$260) per month rate for the Deputy Chiefs and two hundred dollars (\$200) per month rate for the Business Manager shall be any of the following:

• Bachelor's degree

or

• One hundred twenty (120) college level units

### Hazardous Materials Chief Officer Educational Incentive Pay

Effective January 13, 2019 (the date the Department began operations) qualifying employees were compensated for education, training, and expertise in preventing, responding to, and overseeing emergencies involving hazardous materials, which the Department previously referred to as "Haz-Mat" pay. The training and expertise for those duties is classified as Educational Incentive Pay.

# Duties & Eligibility

The Department is the designated provider of hazardous material (haz-mat) emergency response and preparedness services across all of San Mateo County. San Mateo County requires the Department to designate a "Chief Haz-Mat Officer" who oversees the Department's haz-mat response operations in resulting from accidents, natural disasters, acts of terrorism, or other catastrophic events. The Chief Haz-Mat Officer responds to and provides incident management at a scene, develops emergency management drills and training, and assists with implementing emergency preparedness and planning policies, among other duties.

The Chief Haz-Mat Officer's duties require specialized education and training. The Chief Haz-Mat officer must possess the appropriate training and skills related to hazardous material response operations, and shall achieve certification in educational courses on those topics.

The Chief Haz-Mat Officer will have the ability to work within parameters set forth by the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) and the National Incident Management System (NIMS).

As a pre-requisite for an employee to receive Hazardous Materials Chief Officer Educational Incentive Pay, the Fire Chief or their designee must first evaluate and approve the courses, certifications, degrees, and other educational units that form the basis for the incentive pay. The courses, certifications, degrees, and other educational units must be related to the employee's position or duties as Hazardous Materials Chief Officer.

Examples of educational certifications may include, but are not limited to, the following. The Fire Chief may accept alternative/equivalent certifications.

- Hazardous Materials Technician/Specialist
- Hazardous Materials Weapons of Mass Destruction
- Safety Officer Course Haz-Mat
- S-215 Fire Operations in Wildland/Urban Interface
- S-219 Firing Operations
- S-290 Intermediate Wildland Fire Behavior
- S-330 Task Force/Strike Team Leader
- S-404 Safety Officer for Haz-Mat Response
- Fire Management 1 Management/Supervision for Company Officers

- Fire Command 1A Command Principals for the Company Officer
- Fire Command 1B Incident Management for Company Officers
- Fire Command 2A Command Tactics at Major Fires
- Fire Command 2B Management of Major Hazardous Materials Incidents
- Fire Command 2C High Rise Fire Fighting Tactics
- Fire Command 2D Planning For Large Scale Disasters
- Fire Command 2E Wildland Fire Fighting Tactics

The Chief Haz-Mat Officer shall receive educational incentive pay at the rate of 6% of base pay, paid biweekly.

# Deployment Pay for Deputy Chiefs

At the discretion of the Fire Chief, a Deputy Chief may be deployed on Out of County Assignments as part of the California Master Mutual Aid Agreement. If deployed, a Deputy Chief would be paid "portal-to-portal" (beginning at time of initial dispatch from home base to time of return to home base). For those portal-to-portal hours, the Deputy Chief will be paid straight time for regularly scheduled work hours and 1.5 times their hourly rate for hours in addition to their regularly scheduled hours.

#### Management Incentive Pay (MIP)

In addition to their classification as safety employees, the Fire Chief and Deputy Chief positions are managerial positions that oversee the Department's administration, operations, and personnel.

Due to the unique nature of these positions and the supervisorial and administrative duties they involve, which are in additional to duties involving emergency response, the Department provides these positions a 6% MIP rate.

#### Cell Phone

The cost of a cell phone used for department business shall be at the discretion of the Fire Chief.

If a Department cell phone is not provided, a monthly stipend of \$30 a month will be paid biweekly.

# Section 5 - Department Provided Vehicles and Vehicle Allowances

Employees shall be provided a Department vehicle, as determined to be appropriate by the Fire Chief or Fire Board.

Employees using a department vehicle must sign a "Vehicle Use Declaration & Acknowledgement Form."

# Section 6 - Leave Accruals

Employees shall accrue vacation leave, sick leave, and holiday leave on a pro-rata basis in proportion to regular hours on the payroll. Credit shall not be received for time off without

pay. Vacation leave, sick leave, and holiday credits shall accrue from date of appointment.

Absences of less than four hours shall not be deducted from leave balances. Employees are expected to work a minimum of 40 hours per week, with schedules that may vary from day to day based on workplace needs.

### Section 7 - Flexible Benefits Plan

### Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

Flexible Benefits Plan - The Department shall contribute up to the amounts listed below (inclusive of the \$160 maximum Department contribution or CalPERS MEC whichever is greater, towards group medical insurance or No Plan) per month towards the flexible benefit plan.

	Effective	Effective	ective Effective Eff	
	January 2023	January 2024	January 2025	January 2026
No Plan	\$380	\$380	\$380	\$380
Employee Only	\$1,044	\$1,107	\$1,173	\$1,243
Employee +1	\$2,087	\$2,212	\$2,345	\$2,486
Family	\$2,717	\$2,880	\$3,052	\$3,235

No Plan Eligibility - If an employee is eligible for alternative group medical insurance through a spouse or domestic partner's employer-sponsored medical plan, or through a parent's insurance, the employee may waive the Department's medical insurance coverage and select such alternate plan. Proof of such alternate coverage is required prior to waiving coverage through the Department plan. If an employee selects the No Plan option, the JPA contribution shall be deposited to the employees deferred compensation account.

If an employee selects a plan, whose monthly premium exceeds the amounts listed above, the employee will be responsible for payment of the month premium that exceeds the amounts listed above through payroll deduction.

During the term of this MOU, the maximum monthly out of pocket premium payment of an employee who selects Kaiser will not exceed 10% of the monthly premium for Kaiser at the level selected (employee only, employee + 1 or Family). If the Kaiser monthly premium exceeds the negotiated flat dollar monthly contribution above, and an employee selects a plan whose monthly premium is less than the Kaiser premium, then the employee's maximum contribution shall be up to 10% of the selected plan's monthly premium. For example: if the Departments contribution is \$2,100 per month and the employee selects a plan whose cost is \$2,500 a month the employee contribution will be \$400 per month. If the Departments contribution is \$2,100 per month, but Kaiser premium is \$4,000 per month then the employee maximum contribution would be \$400 per month or 10% of the Kaiser premium.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department shall contribute up to the amounts listed below (inclusive of the \$160 maximum Department contribution or CalPERS PEMHCA Minimum Employer Contribution, whichever is greater) towards group medical insurance or No Plan:

As of the first full pay period of each January during the term of this Agreement, the Department's contribution to the Plan will be adjusted to 100% of the Kaiser Region One health plan Single rate, 100% of the Kaiser Region One health plan Two-Party rate, and 100% of the Kaiser Region One health plan Family rate offered under the PEMHCA contract. The Department's contribution toward No Plan (to be deposited into employee's 457 Deferred Compensation Plan account) will be \$160 per month and will remain at that amount during the term of this Agreement. Minimum contribution, whichever is greater. (This establishes minimum retiree medical contribution at \$160 per month.) If an employee selects a plan, whose monthly premium exceeds the amounts listed above, the employee will be responsible for payment of the monthly premium that exceeds the amounts listed above through payroll deduction.

# No Plan Eligibility

If an employee is eligible for alternative group medical insurance through a spouse or domestic partner's employer-sponsored medical plan, or through a parent's insurance, the employee may waive the Department's medical insurance coverage and select such alternate plan. Proof of such alternate coverage is required prior to waiving coverage through the Department's plan. The Department's No Plan contribution shall be made to the employee's deferred compensation account. Employees who opt out of health plan coverage through the Department must annually provide proof of insurance through a spouse, parent or state-registered domestic partner in order to be eligible for the "no plan" contribution amount above. Family members include state-registered domestic partners and their dependents as recognized by the State of California. The Department's contribution for part-time merit employees working less than forty hours per week shall be prorated. The Department's payment for No Plan will be similarly prorated for part-time merit employees working less than forty hours per week.

#### Section 8 – Dental/Vision Insurance

#### Dental Insurance

#### Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

The Department shall provide for one hundred percent (100%) coverage on routine maintenance and eighty percent (80%) on minor and major dental work with a maximum payment of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) per eligible employee and covered dependent per year. A lifetime orthodontic benefit of three thousand five hundred dollars (\$3,500) shall be provided to eligible employee and dependents. The Department may self-insure to provide equal or better benefits.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department will provide dental coverage for employees and eligible dependents.

#### Vision Insurance

The Department shall provide vision insurance for the eligible employees and eligible dependents.

# Section 9 - Long Term Disability

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department shall provide long-term disability insurance providing for a sixty (60) day elimination period, subject to prior exhaustion of accrued sick leave or other applicable benefits, and payment of a monthly benefit equivalent to sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of full basic monthly salary up to a maximum salary allowed by the plan, less any deductible benefits.

### Section 10 - Life Insurance

The Department shall provide life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance without regard to membership in any health plan.

# Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

Life Insurance/Accidental Death Insurance (AD&D Insurance) The Department shall provide the following benefits or their equivalents:

- a. Two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) Life insurance.
- b. AD&D two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) accidental death and dismemberment.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

The Department shall pay the full premium amount necessary to provide \$50,000 term life insurance policy plus the same amount of Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D).

#### Section 11 - Deferred Compensation Plan

Employees are eligible to participate in the Department offered 457 deferred compensation plans. All contributions to deferred compensation plans and retirement health savings accounts are contingent upon compliance with state and federal rules and regulations.

#### Section 12 – Retiree Health Savings (RHS) Account

Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs) Retirement Health Savings Account Eligibility and Plan Design: The Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs will be enrolled in the RHS Account.

Contribution Months of Service	Department Contribution	Employee Contribution
1 – 131	2.0%	1.0%
132 – 191	2.5%	2.0%
192 – 239	3.0%	2.0%
240 – 299	3.5%	2.5%
300+	4.0%	2.5%

• Months of Service for the calculation of the RHSA contributions is defined as continuous service with the Department only.

#### Separation Pay

Separation pay shall be contributed to this account in accordance with the Plan design.

Any employee separating within the term of this contract will have all of his/her eligible accrued leave balances paid out into his/her RHS account. The administration costs of maintaining this RHS account will be borne by the Department.

# Section 13 - Pay for Temporary Assignment

An Employee appointed to a higher paid classification on an acting basis shall be paid at the first step of the higher pay range or at the step which is not less than 5% more than his/her current pay, provided the duration of the assignment is for 30 days or more and for purposes other than vacation relief and all of the duties of the higher paid class are performed.

# Section 14 - Health and Wellness (Business Manager)

Physical fitness classes may be provided through the City of Belmont, City of Foster City, or the City of San Mateo Parks and Recreation Departments to employees at no cost or reduced cost. The Department will provide interested employees with resources for the classes and registration.

# ARTICLE II HOLIDAYS

# Section 1 - Official Department Holidays

The holidays to be observed are as follows and employees who work a forty (40) hour workweek schedule shall not be required to be on duty unless the Department has so indicated:

- New Year's Day, January 1st.
- Martin Luther King's Birthday, the 3rd Monday in January.
- President's Day, 3rd Monday in February.
- Memorial Day, last Monday in May.
- Juneteenth, June 19<sup>th</sup> (Business Manager only)
- Independence Day, July 4th.
- Labor Day, 1st Monday in September.
- Veteran's Day, November 11.
- Thanksgiving Day, 4th Thursday in November.
- The day after Thanksgiving.
- Christmas Eve, December 24th.
- Christmas Day, December 25th.
- New Years' Eve, December 31.
- Every day approved by the JPA Board of Directors as a public holiday, public fast, thanksgiving or a day of mourning.

When a holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed. If the holiday falls on Saturday, the previous Friday shall be observed.

With regards to the holidays on Christmas Eve and New Years' Eve should either date fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the preceding Friday shall be observed. In the case where Christmas Day and/or New Years' Day are observed on Friday, the corresponding Eve holiday shall be observed on Thursday. If the holiday falls on an employee's regularly scheduled time off, eight (8) hours of holiday leave shall be granted on a regularly scheduled time worked. In the event one (1) or more holidays fall within an annual vacation leave of an employee who receives holiday time off, such holidays shall not be charged as vacation leave.

If a forty (40) hour workweek employee is required by the Department to work on any of the above holidays, he/she shall be paid at the appropriate Special Command Pay rate for the hours worked.

#### Floating Holiday

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

In addition to the above listed holidays, after completing one (1) years of continuous merit full time service, employees shall earn one (1) Floating Holiday (eight (8) hours) each calendar year. Floating holiday hours shall be included in the holiday hour accruals, shall be used in the same manner as vacation and shall be paid out on the last pay period of each calendar year.

# ARTICLE III VACATION AND OTHER LEAVES

#### Section 1 - Vacation Leave

#### Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

Policy: Vacations are considered essential to the employee's welfare and they are granted by the Fire Department to allow employees relaxation and rest from their duties. Therefore, it shall be the policy of the Fire Department not to allow the excess accumulation of vacation leave.

All full-time regular employees shall be entitled to annual leave with pay as provided below.

Each 40-Hour Week employee shall be granted ninety-six (96) hours credit for vacation with pay following completion of one (1) year of continuous service from date of hire. Lateral employees may be granted a prorated amount when necessary. Thereafter, for each additional biweekly pay period of service, the employee shall accrue vacation with pay as follows:

Minimum Continuous Service	Hours	Days	Bi-weekly Accrual	Maximum Accumulation
End of 1st Year	96	12		
13-47 months	96	12	3.69	192
48-95 months	146	18.25	5.62	292
96-143 months	160	20	6.15	320
144-191 months	188	23.5	7.23	376
192-237 months	200	25	7.69	400
240+ months	208	26	8	416

The above allowance shall be pro-rated for employees leaving employment with the Department during a biweekly pay period.

No employee may use vacation in excess of hours accrued.

#### Vacation Accumulation

The Department will provide each employee a bi-weekly written accounting of vacation accumulation and vacation earned and used during the previous pay period. The report may be included on the bi-weekly wage and earnings statement. Employees may not accrue more than two times their annual vacation leave.

Employees are responsible to schedule their vacation during the annual vacation signups to ensure that their maximum accrual does not exceed their two (2) year accrual. Employees who are unable to take their vacation due to the Fire Department's service needs and reach their maximum permissible vacation accumulation will be required to accept cash payment, in twenty-four (24)-hour increments, for enough time to reduce the accumulation below the maximum.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

Vacation Accrual - Employees shall accrue vacation as follows:

Years of Service	Hours per Pay Period	Maximum Hours	Days per Year
0 through 3	3.39	176	11 working days
4th through 9th	4.93	256	16 working days
10th through 15	6.47	336	21 working days
16 through 25	7.08	368	23 working days
26+	7.70	400	25 days

Employees shall accrue vacation leave only as it is earned. Employees may use accrued vacation in no less than one half hour (1/2 hour) increments, subject to the Fire Chief or designee approval.

#### Vacation Accumulation

Employees shall not accumulate more than the equivalent of two annual vacation accruals. An Employee who accumulates vacation in excess of two annual vacation accruals shall not accrue additional hours until the balance is below maximum amount pursuant to this section.

Vacation use may be deferred by the written approval of the Fire Chief or designee when in the best interests of Department and the Employee. Requests for deferring vacation use must be presented to the Fire Chief or designee 60 days before the maximum accrual is reached.

It is the responsibility of Employees to review the vacation accrual balance printed on each paycheck stub to ensure that he/she uses vacation within two accrual years unless deferment is requested and obtained from the Fire Chief or designee as provided herein.

The Fire Chief or his/her designee may grant a new Management Employee a starting accrual rate of 16 days up to 4 years of service at which time normal accrual shall begin. This does not apply to promotional Employees.

# Vacation Sell Back

# Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

In addition to the Department's right to pay employees who reach their maximum accruals, employees shall have the option to make an irrevocable election to receive cash payment for up to eighty (80) hours of accrued vacation time each calendar year. Requests must be received by Payroll no later than December 31 for the following year elections. No employees can elect to sell back more than their annual vacation accrual. An employee must have the designated number of accumulated vacation available for sell back at the designated time frame. Employees may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated vacation during the first pay period in June of each year and the employee may period in November of each year for a maximum of 80 hours.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

Employee may cash out up to a maximum of eighty (80) hours of accrued vacation leave per calendar year. Employee may designate to cash out up to forty (40) hours in June and up to forty (40) hours in November. An employee is eligible for this cash out option only if the employee has used at least forty-eight (48) hours of vacation leave in the previous twelve (12) month period prior to making the request. Vacation cash out requests must be submitted to the Fire Chief or designee no later than December 31 of the year prior to the year in which the cash out of vacation is made. Payroll records will be used to determine whether or not an employee has taken the required forty-eight (48) hours of vacation leave.

# Section 2 – Executive Leave and Sell Back

#### Executive Leave Accumulation

Employees shall be credited with executive leave on a pay period basis (the accrual rate shall be 3.7 hours per pay period). An employee shall not accumulate more than 80 hours of executive leave. Executive leave shall be taken at the discretion of the employee contingent upon approval by the Fire Chief or his/her designee.

# Executive Leave Sell Back

# Safety (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chiefs)

Employees may make an irrevocable election to receive cash payment for up to eighty (80) hours of accrued executive leave. Requests must be received by Payroll no later than December 31 for the following year elections. No employee can elect to sell back more than eighty (80) hours of executive leave. An employee must have the designated number of accumulated executive leave hours available for sell back at the designated time frame. Employees may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated executive leave a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated executive leave during June of each year and the employee may receive a cash payment for up to 40 hours of accumulated executive leave vacation during November of each year for a maximum of 80 hours.

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

Employees may cash out up to a maximum of forty (40) hours of accrued, but unused executive leave per calendar year. In order for an employee to receive pay in lieu of time

off an employee must submit their request for pay by December 31, of the year prior to the year in which the compensation will be received. Employees can receive compensation for up to twenty (20) hours of Executive leave in first full pay period in June and up to twenty (20) hours of Executive leave in first full pay period in November.

#### Section 3 – Sick Leave and Bereavement Leave

Sick leave shall be accrued at the rate of 3.7 hours for each biweekly pay period of service or twelve (12) days per year. Unused sick leave shall be accumulated. There is no cap on sick leave accumulation.

# Purpose

The purpose of this section is to continue the compensation of employees who must remain off their jobs because of illness or disability. Such sick leave is a privilege, which the employee can exercise in the event of his/her bona fide illness or disability or in the event his/her presence away from work is essential because of illness, death or disability of immediate members of his/her family.

# Protected Sick Leave and Bereavement Leave

In accordance with California Family Right Act (CFRA), protected sick leave may be taken and if taken, shall be charged to sick leave for the following reasons:

The diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventative care for, an employee.

The diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventative care for, an employee's family member.

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.

Family members under CFRA are defined as parent, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, or registered domestic partner's child, sibling, stepchildren, mother- in-law, fatherin-law, grandparents and grandchildren. Additionally, an employee may use this leave to care for a "designated person" (employees will be required to designate this person at time of request for leave and employees will be limited to designating no more than one person per 12-month period.)

Not more than six (6) days or 48 hours for a 40-hour employee or four (4) shifts of such family sick leave shall be granted in any one (1) calendar year. However, if extenuating circumstances exist, at the discretion of the Fire Chief and or his/her designee, a reasonable extension of the six (6) days or 48 hours for a 40-hour employee. Any additional leave so granted shall be charged against the employee's accumulated sick leave.

In the event of a death in the immediate family, a 40-hour employee may take up to three days or 24 hours. At the discretion of the Fire Chief or his/her designee, the employee may be granted additional shifts of accrued sick leave. Bereavement

Leave shall be tracked separately. In the context of bereavement leave only, immediate family member shall be defined as: spouse, domestic partner, child, foster child who resided with the employee at the time of his/her death, stepchild, mother, father, stepmother, stepfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother, stepbrother, sister, stepsister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, spouse's grandmother, son-in-law, daughter- in-law, or grandchildren.

Bereavement leave shall not be accumulated and is in addition to sick leave and vacation

#### benefits.

#### Section 4 – Recognition Leave

#### Performance Component

#### Miscellaneous (Business Manager)

Employees are eligible to receive a maximum of five (5) days of paid leave per fiscal year in recognition of exemplary performance.

Leave may be granted in any increment between one (1) day and five (5) days to individuals or to work teams for such reasons as a single outstanding achievement, consistently above standard job performance, or other extraordinary efforts on behalf of the Department and approved by the Fire Chief.

This leave must be taken as paid time off in the fiscal year in which it is granted. This leave has no cash value and is not compensable upon termination of employment with the Department.

#### Section 5 - Discipline

Provisions regarding discipline and discharge are found in the Department Personnel Rules & Regulation.

#### Section 6 - Grievances

Provisions regarding Grievance Procedures are found in the Department Personnel Rules & Regulations.